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Dear Ms. Fair: 

 

This letter is to notify you of the disposition of the above-referenced complaint filed on February 

24, 2020, with the U.S. Department of Education, Office for Civil Rights (OCR), against 

Ashland Theological Seminary (the Seminary), alleging that the Seminary discriminated against 

a student (the Student) based on disability.  Specifically, the complaint alleged that: 

1. in [redacted], the Seminary did not provide the Student with agreed-upon and/or 

appropriate academic adjustments/auxiliary aids and services; 

2. in [redacted], the Seminary retaliated against the Student by [redacted] because she filed 

this complaint with OCR [redacted]; 

3. in [redacted], the Seminary[redacted] harassed the Student on the basis of her disability; 

and 

4. the Seminary has not adopted Section 504 grievance procedures.   

 

OCR enforces Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 (Section 504), 29 U.S.C. § 794, and 

its implementing regulation at 34 C.F.R. Part 104, which prohibit discrimination on the basis of 

disability by recipients of federal financial assistance.  Persons who seek to enforce their rights 

under this law are also protected from retaliation.  As a recipient of federal financial assistance 

from the Department of Education, the Seminary is subject to this law. 

 

Based on the complaint allegations, OCR opened an investigation of the following legal issues:  

• whether the Seminary failed to make modifications to its academic requirements to 

ensure that a qualified student with a disability was not denied the benefits of, excluded 

from participation in, or otherwise subjected to discrimination in violation of the Section 

504 implementing regulation at 34 C.F.R. § 104.44(a); 
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• whether the Seminary intimidated, threatened, coerced, or discriminated against an 

individual for the purpose of interfering with any right or privilege secured by Section 

504 or because that individual made a complaint under Section 504 in violation of the 

Section 504 implementing regulation at 34 C.F.R. § 104.61; 

• whether a student was subjected to harassing conduct on the basis of disability that was 

sufficiently severe, persistent, or pervasive to interfere with or deny the student’s 

participation in or receipt of benefits, services, or opportunities in the Seminary’s 

program and, if so, whether the Seminary failed to investigate promptly and to respond 

appropriately, in violation of the Section 504 implementing regulation at 34 C.F.R. § 

104.4; and 

• whether the Seminary failed to adopt grievance procedures, in violation of the Section 

504 implementing regulation at 34 C.F.R. § 104.7(b). 

 

During its investigation to date, OCR reviewed information provided by the Student and the 

Seminary.  OCR also interviewed the Student and current and former Seminary and Ashland 

University staff.  Prior to the conclusion of OCR’s investigation, the Seminary expressed its 

interest in resolving this complaint under Section 302 of OCR’s Case Processing Manual.  With 

respect to allegation #3, after careful review of the information obtained, OCR has determined 

that the evidence is insufficient to find that the Seminary violated Section 504, as alleged.  With 

respect to the remaining allegations, OCR found compliance concerns and determined it to be 

appropriate to resolve these allegations.  The bases for OCR’s determinations are explained 

below. 

 

Background 

 

The Seminary is a private, not-for-profit, postsecondary institution that offers master’s and 

doctoral degree programs at four campuses: Ashland, Ohio; Columbus, Ohio; Cleveland, Ohio; 

and Detroit, Michigan.  It is a graduate division of Ashland University (the University).   

 

[paragraph redacted]   

 

Allegation 1: Alleged Failure to Provide Academic Adjustments 

• Summary of Evidence Obtained to Date 

 

The Student told OCR that she had identified herself as a student with a disability to the 

Seminary and provided documentation of her disability, and that she had been approved by the 

Seminary’s [redacted].  The Student said documentation from her doctor supported her need for 

this accommodation.  The Student told OCR that the [redacted] said she would write the Student 

a letter stating this agreement but did not do that before she left.  [sentence redacted]  She alleged 

that he made this decision outside of the school’s Student Accessibility Center process and that 

he would not allow alternative accommodations for her, such as allowing her to [redacted].  

[sentence redacted] 
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[redacted] told OCR that the University’s SAC provides services to Seminary students and that 

the University provides information about its process through its website.  To receive disability-

related services, a student submits a request for disability-related services, and the director asks 

for disability verification documents.  After receiving relevant documentation, the director talks 

with the student about the documentation presented and asks questions, such as what challenges 

the student faces, what services have helped in the past, and what services would help now.  

Then, the director provides the student with an individualized accommodation eligibility letter, 

which the student provides to professors, and professors provide accommodations.  The student 

or the professors can contact the SAC director with any questions so they can work 

collaboratively together. 

 

[redacted] said that students can ask a faculty member or administrator for disability-related 

accommodations, and the faculty member or administrator should refer the student to SAC.   

 

OCR interviewed the [redacted], who said that she could not specifically recall the Student nor 

telling a student that she could [redacted] because of her disability. 

 

The Seminary’s documentation showed that, in [redacted], the Student registered with SAC.  Her 

file includes a copy of a “Disability Verification Form,” received by SAC on [redacted].  On the 

form, the Student’s doctor noted diagnoses of [redacted].  [sentence redacted]   On the Disability 

Verification Form, the doctor recommended the following accommodations: [redacted]. 

 

SAC issued the Student an “Accommodation Eligibility Letter,” dated [redacted].  The letter 

stated that the Student was to receive a number of academic adjustments, including [redacted].  

The Student was to work with professors to meet course requirements and maintain regular 

communication.  The accommodation letter did not indicate what if any adjustments or services 

SAC had denied.  

The Student’s SAC file also included a copy of a letter from the Student’s doctor, addressed to 

the Student and dated [redacted], which stated: 

 

[paragraph redacted] 

 

The Seminary’s documentation showed that in [redacted] the Student’s [redacted] developed a 

plan for the Student, which included [redacted] courses to complete in order for her to graduate 

by [redacted].  The Student took one course during [redacted], which she completed, with an 

extension, in [redacted].  The Student told OCR she then took a break during that [redacted] 

semester and resumed school for the [redacted] semester. 

  

[redacted] told OCR that, after the [redacted] left the Seminary in [redacted], the Student dealt 

with him.  Between [redacted], [redacted] e-mailed the Student about her situation.  [redacted] 

told her he had not seen any correspondence or paperwork indicating the [redacted] had 

approved the Student to [redacted].  [redacted] also told the Student that the Seminary did not 

have a record of receiving a doctor’s letter concerning her disability.  He asked the Student to 

obtain another.  The Student e-mailed in reply and expressed how upsetting this was.  She said 

that she had provided a lot of documentation before meeting with the [redacted], including 

giving a doctor’s letter to the [redacted]’s administrative assistant.  She stated that the [redacted] 

had approved her [redacted].  [redacted] e-mailed the Student and said that, once he had the 
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doctor’s letter, they could begin to formulate a plan.  He said he would help her, and she would 

get an official letter from him stating what they agreed to do about her course plan. 

 

[redacted] told OCR that, as the Seminary had switched its curriculum and also changed from 

quarters to semesters during the time period the Student was not attending, [redacted] discussed 

her status with her advisor and the registrar and then worked on a degree worksheet to lay out 

what courses she needed to graduate.  [redacted] said he had done a reassessment for a number of 

students caught in this situation.  [redacted] also said the [redacted] had highlighted that, due to 

the Student’s lengthy time away since the [redacted] academic year, some of her credits were set 

to “expire” under a rule of the Seminary’s accrediting agency that required a student’s program 

to be completed within ten years.  [redacted] confirmed that some of the Student’s courses were 

close to or already had “expired” under the rule, so he waived the 10-year requirement for one 

semester so that she could take the [redacted] courses he had determined she needed to graduate; 

he said schools had the ability to make such decisions on a case-by-case basis for good reason. 

 

On [redacted], [redacted] met with the Student to discuss the plan he developed.  He told her that 

she needed to take and pass only [redacted] more courses, [redacted], in [redacted] to graduate in 

[redacted].  On [redacted], the Student submitted a signed “Application for Graduation” to the 

Seminary.  [redacted] acknowledged to OCR that the Student wished to [redacted].  [redacted] 

said he told her that, if she needed an extension beyond the end of the semester in [redacted], the 

Seminary would be able to give her an extension until [redacted]. 

 

[redacted] told OCR that his determination about [redacted] was not done as part of providing 

the Student accommodation related to her disability, so SAC was not involved; rather, it was 

done because of the curriculum changes in the Seminary, the ten-year rule, and the fact that the 

courses she needed wouldn’t have been offered for another year.  However, the Student told 

OCR this was an accommodation issue and that [redacted], but she said [redacted] gave her no 

choice.  [redacted] said he knew the Student had been in contact with SAC but was not aware of 

specific details of what she was approved for.  [redacted] told OCR that he did not recall the 

Student asking him for any specific accommodation or modification of policy.  [sentence 

redacted]  

 

[redacted] denied receiving a request from the Student to [redacted].  [redacted] also said that 

was not what the Student’s doctor recommended.  She said she did not know whether the Student 

had requested [redacted].  However, when OCR asked [redacted] whether the Student had ever 

asked for services other than those SAC stated in her eligibility letter, [redacted] said the Student 

had agreed to [redacted] and then wanted additional time, which she requested from [redacted] 

and was given an extension.  Then, the Student requested [redacted].  [redacted] determined that 

the Student would need to request that from the Seminary or her professor—she said this was not 

something to be determined by SAC, as it was about degree completion; [redacted] could not 

change the Seminary curriculum or change accreditation requirements. 

 

The Student told OCR [redacted] plan also meant that she would not get to take what she felt 

were essential courses, such as [redacted].  The Student told OCR she checked with the 

accrediting entity and was told the 10-year rule could be waived under circumstances such as 

hers.  [redacted] denied receiving any request from the Student to take all of the [redacted] 

remaining courses for her degree her advisor from several years before had identified instead of 
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the [redacted] determined by [redacted].  [redacted] said that some of those courses might not 

even have existed anymore.  Both [redacted] and the Seminary confirmed to OCR that the 10-

year rule was formally rescinded as of June 2020. 

 

Per [redacted]’s plan, the Student was supposed to take the [redacted] course during [redacted].  

[redacted] course was offered both during the week at the Ashland campus, [redacted], and on 

weekends in Detroit.  On [redacted], [redacted] contacted the professor who was to teach the 

[redacted] course on the Ashland campus.  He notified the Ashland professor of the Student’s 

medical challenges and of the possibility that the Student could need extra time and thus an 

extension.  He said that the Student should work with the professor concerning that.  He said the 

Student wanted an extension approved from the outset; the Student was not yet registered for the 

class but wanted to begin work ahead of time with the professor to receive an advance approval 

for her access to reasonable extended time to complete class assignments without penalty, which 

was part of her approved accommodations. 

The Student also corresponded with the [redacted] professor and inquired about getting an 

extension that the Student anticipated needing for the course in advance of the class.  The 

professor explained that [redacted] and would not be available to do an extension at the end of 

the course.  She said the Student might not need an extension and that it was not usual to ask 

before a student even knew he/she would need one.  The Student asked the professor if it might 

be better for her to take the Detroit section of the course.  The professor expressed concern about 

the challenges that could result if the Student took the course in Detroit and encouraged her not 

to take that course. 

 

The Student corresponded with [redacted] about the extension in advance, as well, and he also 

told her she should wait to see if she needed one.  [redacted] said that the Seminary generally did 

not grant extensions to a student before a class started, as the student might not need one.   

 

The Student sent an e-mail to the SAC director on [redacted], in which she inquired about taking 

the course in Detroit.  The Student told the SAC director that the structure in the Detroit class, 

which met monthly, would be better for her and that the Ashland class, which met weekly, would 

be difficult for her because it included writing weekly reports.  She said that she would need to 

send drafts to the school’s writing center, and the center’s review could take a couple of days.  

She said the monthly format of the Detroit class would also give her more time for reading and 

writing.  The e-mail correspondence submitted by the Seminary indicated that she eventually 

changed her [redacted] class to Detroit.  [sentence redacted]. 

 

In [redacted], with the Student taking both the [redacted] classes, the Student contacted 

[redacted] by e-mail, stating it had been extremely tough trying to handle [redacted] classes at 

the same time.  [redacted]’s reply e-mail discussed the imminent expiration of some of her 

credits that were 10 or more years old and said he had already granted an extension on the 

expiration period of her old credits.  The Student discussed her need for accommodation and 

asked why she was not able to do her [redacted] class as a [redacted].  [redacted] said the 

Seminary did not allow [redacted] for core courses.  The Seminary did not provide an 

explanation of how the decision was made for the Student. 

 

The [redacted] professor confirmed to OCR that the Student had asked about taking the course 

without travelling to Detroit but said that he told the Student that she could attend remotely.  This 
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was rendered moot due to the COVID-19 pandemic, with the course becoming a virtual class. 

During a follow-up interview with the Student, she told OCR that the professor had at some 

point after she filed this OCR complaint offered that she could take the course remotely. 

 

In [redacted], the Student told her [redacted] professor that she could not handle [redacted] 

classes at once.  On [redacted], the Student told the [redacted] professor that she had not 

completed her work for his class.  The professor contacted [redacted] to ask about the procedure 

for a student to request an extension.  [redacted] asked if the Student’s work could be done by 

[redacted], and the professor granted the Student an extension until then. 

 

On [redacted], [redacted] notified the Student’s [redacted] professors, suggested continuing to 

help the Student in any way they could, and said to give her any extension to which they had 

already agreed.  When [redacted] checked on the Student’s progress in [redacted], the [redacted] 

professor said her estimated completion date was [redacted].  The [redacted] professor reported 

that the Student had told him to stop contacting her and to stop pressuring her.  [redacted] 

reiterated that they would give the Student more time if she needed it.  On [redacted], the Student 

told her [redacted] professor and [redacted] that she did not want the extension offered and 

reiterated that she had needed [redacted]. 

 

The [redacted] professor said that the Student completed her [redacted] course remotely after 

having been given an extension.  [redacted] said that the Seminary designated her [redacted] 

course as [redacted] so that she could complete the work and pass it without having to risk 

failing and without having to pay for the course again.  That was still the status for this course as 

of OCR’s investigation. 

 

• Legal Standard 

 

The Section 504 implementing regulation at 34 C.F.R. §104.4(b)(1)(ii) prohibits a recipient from 

affording a qualified person with a disability an opportunity to participate in or benefit from the 

recipient’s aid, benefit, or service that is not equal to that afforded to others.  In addition, the 

Section 504 regulation provides, at 34 C.F.R. § 104.44(a), that a recipient shall make such 

modifications to its academic requirements as are necessary to ensure that such requirements do 

not discriminate or have the effect of discriminating, on the basis of disability, against a qualified 

student with a disability.  Academic requirements that the recipient can demonstrate are essential 

to the instruction being pursued by such student or to any directly related licensing requirement 

will not be regarded as discriminatory.  34 C.F.R. § 104.44(a).   

 

Postsecondary schools do not have a duty to find students with disabilities.  Rather it is 

incumbent on a student to notify a school about any disability that may require academic 

adjustments.  

 

The student should contact the school’s office that provides services to students with disabilities 

as early as possible and determine what supporting documentation is required to establish that 

the student has a disability and is eligible for academic adjustments.  The student should expect 

the postsecondary school to work with them in an interactive process to identify the needed 

documentation and to determine the appropriate academic adjustments, if any.   
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Institutions of higher education are not required to conduct or pay for an evaluation to document 

a student’s disability and need for an academic adjustment.   

 

The amount of information a postsecondary school may seek from an individual requesting 

academic adjustments is limited.  The school is entitled only to information needed to provide a 

sufficient basis to evaluate the student’s disability and whether requested academic adjustments 

are necessary and appropriate for the individual.  

 

The interactive process between the postsecondary institution and the student should result in 

academic adjustments that the postsecondary school will put into operation.  A school may reject 

a proposed academic adjustment because it would fundamentally alter the school’s program (for 

example, by lowering its academic standards) or because it would result in undue financial or 

administrative burdens.  Generally, though, once it has agreed to an academic adjustment, the 

school should abide by the results of the interactive process.  If a postsecondary school decides 

that it cannot implement an academic adjustment, it must work with the student to find an 

effective alternative.  If the student believes that the academic adjustments are not meeting their 

needs, it is the student’s responsibility to notify the school as soon as possible. 

 

With regard to whether a requested academic adjustment or auxiliary aid would fundamentally 

alter an essential program requirement, courts and OCR give deference to an institution’s 

academic decision-making.  However, in order to receive such deference, relevant officials 

within the institution are required to have engaged in a reasoned deliberation, including a diligent 

assessment of available options. 

 

Allegation 2 – Alleged Retaliation 

 

• Summary of Evidence Obtained to Date 

 

[paragraphs redacted] 

 

The Student told OCR that, in [redacted], while she was still enrolled in the [redacted] classes 

she needed to graduate, she told [redacted].  She said that the staff initially told her that this 

would be no problem.  The Student stated that [redacted] then told her that [redacted], who was 

the coordinator’s supervisor, said that since the Student was set to graduate in [redacted] she 

could not [redacted] after that time, despite the Student’s request [redacted].  The Student said 

that, as she kept pressing about [redacted], [redacted] told her she could [redacted], but 

[redacted] would not allow her to [redacted].  [sentences redacted] 

 

The Student alleged that [redacted] constituted retaliation by the Seminary for her filing this 

complaint and [redacted].  In support of this allegation, the Student told OCR that there was 

nothing in writing explaining [redacted].  [sentence redacted]  She said the Seminary had been 

very lenient, especially with Seminary graduates, if they needed [redacted] on after graduation.  

She stated that the Seminary changed its rules regarding [redacted] suddenly and that, when she 

asked the [redacted] for the reasons for this change, the coordinator kept giving her different 

reasons and told her that she would need to work with [redacted] regarding her case. 
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[redacted] confirmed that [redacted].  He said that the Seminary generally reserves [redacted] for 

its students and employees.  [redacted] might be extended for a few months after graduation; 

[redacted].  [redacted] said that this is what happened to the Student; she requested [redacted], 

which the Seminary denied, because that would have been far beyond the period that the 

Seminary could provide for an extension.  [redacted] denied that the decision to refuse the 

Student’s request [redacted] was related to her OCR complaint or [redacted].  He said the 

decision was based on the fact that the Student had applied for graduation and was expected to 

graduate in [redacted].  She received [redacted] from then until the [redacted], as she received an 

extension for her [redacted] course and was still a student.  However, when the Student’s 

[redacted] professor contacted the Student in [redacted] to check on her, the Student e-mailed 

him, saying not to contact her again and saying that she did not want an extension. 

 

[redacted] denied any changes were made during this time in the Seminary’s general practice or 

policy regarding [redacted].  [redacted] confirmed [redacted]’s description of eligibility for 

[redacted]. 

 

The Student told OCR that she knew of [redacted] individuals who were permitted [redacted] 

after no longer being students or employees.  The Seminary provided information supporting that 

[redacted] were either University students, Seminary students, or employees, with one exception, 

a person who was permitted [redacted] despite no longer having such status.  The Seminary 

indicated this person was given [redacted] due to “extraordinary circumstances.”  

 

When OCR gave the Student the opportunity to respond to the information provided by the 

Seminary, the Student provided a copy of an e-mail communication exchanged between the 

[redacted] and herself in [redacted].  [sentences redacted] 

 

[paragraphs redacted] 

 

The information from the Seminary about the person for whom an exception was granted 

[redacted] indicated the Seminary granted the exception for that person not long after the above 

exchange. 

 

The Seminary stated that, in the Student’s case, she also received an extension [redacted] after 

being granted an extension to complete her coursework in [redacted].  The Seminary stated that 

the Student did not request a further extension regarding [redacted].  The Seminary provided a 

copy of the e-mail communication between the Student and her [redacted] professor. 

 

[paragraph redacted] 

 

• Legal Standard 

 

The regulation implementing Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, at 34 C.F.R § 100.7(e), 

prohibits recipients of Federal financial assistance from intimidating, threatening, coercing, or 

discriminating against any individual for the purpose of interfering with any right or privilege 

secured by the regulation or because that individual has made a complaint, testified, assisted, or 

participated in any manner in an investigation, proceeding, or hearing under the regulation.  This 

requirement is incorporated by reference in the Section 504 regulation at 34 C.F.R. § 104.61. 
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In analyzing retaliation claims, OCR examines whether: 1) an individual engaged in a protected 

activity; and 2) an individual experienced an adverse action caused by the recipient; and 3) there 

is some evidence of a causal connection between the adverse action and the protected activity.  

Although all three elements must exist to establish a prima facie case, OCR need not address all 

three elements if it determines one is missing.   

 

Protected activity includes participation in an investigation, proceeding, or hearing under OCR’s 

regulations; actions taken in furtherance of a substantive or procedural right guaranteed by the 

statutes and regulations enforced by OCR; or expression of opposition to any practice made 

unlawful by a statute or regulation that OCR enforces.  An act of intimidation, threat, coercion, 

or discrimination constitutes adverse action for purposes of the anti-retaliation regulations if it is 

likely to dissuade a reasonable person in the individual’s position from making or supporting a 

charge of discrimination or from otherwise exercising a right or privilege secured under the 

statutes or regulations enforced by OCR.     

 

Causal connection between protected activity and adverse action may be established through 

either direct or circumstantial evidence.  Direct evidence consists of a recipient’s written 

statement, oral statement, or action demonstrating unambiguously that the recipient took the 

adverse action because the individual engaged in a protected activity or for the purpose of 

interfering with protected activities.  Circumstantial evidence of retaliatory motive can include 

(but is not limited to): changes to treatment of the individual after protected activity; the 

proximity in time between protected activity and the adverse action; the recipient’s treatment of 

the individual compared to others; or the recipient’s deviation from established policies or 

practices.  

 

If the above elements of a prima facie case of retaliation are established, OCR examines whether 

the recipient has identified a facially legitimate, non-retaliatory reason for the adverse action.  If 

the recipient identifies a facially legitimate, non-retaliatory reason for the adverse action, OCR 

next conducts a pretext inquiry to determine whether this reason is genuine or is a cover for 

retaliation. The evidentiary factors for causal connection discussed above are equally applicable 

for determining pretext. 

 

If OCR determines that a recipient took an adverse action for an illegitimate retaliatory reason 

and a legitimate non-retaliatory reason, OCR analyzes, based on the evidence, if the recipient 

would have made the same decision but for the retaliatory motivation.  

 

 

Allegation 3 – Alleged Disability Harassment 

 

• Summary of Evidence 

 

[paragraphs redacted] 

 

• Legal Standard 

 



Page 10 – Miriam Fair, Esq. 

 

The regulation implementing Section 504, at 34 C.F.R. § 104.4(a), states that no qualified 

individual with a disability shall, on the basis of disability, be excluded from participation in, be 

denied the benefits of, or otherwise be subjected to discrimination under any program or activity 

which receives federal financial assistance.  Disability harassment is a form of disability 

discrimination prohibited by Section 504.  Disability-based harassment is intimidating or abusive 

behavior based on disability that is so severe, pervasive, or persistent that it creates a hostile 

environment that interferes with or denies a student’s ability to participate in or benefit from a 

recipient’s educational program or activities.  When disability harassment limits or denies a 

student's ability to participate in or benefit from an educational institution's programs or 

activities, the institution must respond effectively.  Where the institution learns that disability 

harassment may have occurred, the institution must investigate the incident(s) promptly and 

respond appropriately.   

 

Allegation 4 – Alleged Lack of Section 504 Grievance Procedures 

• Summary of Evidence Obtained to Date 

 

The Student alleged that the Seminary did not inform her that she could file a grievance when 

her requests for accommodations were denied in the [redacted] academic year.  The Student 

alleged that no one at the Seminary let her know about relevant grievance procedures concerning 

her accommodations denial and that the Seminary website did not provide any relevant 

information; the Student stated that the SAC web page provides information only about 

accommodations and nothing about its grievance procedures. 

 

The Seminary denied the allegation and asserted the Seminary's grievance procedures are 

available both in its handbooks and online. 

 

OCR reviewed the Seminary’s website and identified three processes through which a student 

could file a complaint or grievance.  The first is a “Student Accessibility Center Grievance 

Procedure,” which is accessed through a link on SAC’s web page but is not visible until one 

clicks “Learn More” and then clicks the link for the grievance procedure.  The process provides 

that the student will first discuss an issue with the SAC director or staff, who will attempt to 

resolve it.  If either the student or SAC does not believe the issue is resolved, the student can 

notify the provost, who will evaluate the complaint and determine “an appropriate resolution.”  If 

that does not resolve the issue, then the process says the student can choose to file with “Federal 

Office for Civil Rights, The Ohio Civil Rights Commission or Disability Rights Ohio.”  The 

contact information provided is for the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services’ Office 

for Civil Rights.  The procedure does not provide details as to what each type of resolution or 

investigation would entail. 

 

The second process available is the University’s Student Complaint Policy, “available to students 

who wish to have a concern resolved regarding a process or person of the university community 

not covered by existing policies (i.e., grade appeals and academic grievance procedure)” and 

provides informal and formal resolution procedures.  It notes SAC’s separate process, described 

above, specifically for persons with disabilities.  With its informal process, the student is 

encouraged to try to work out issues with the person with whom he/she has a conflict. 
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To file a formal complaint, a student must use an online form.  The policy provides three levels 

of formal complaint procedures: Level 1 (resolved by dean or director by written 

recommendation, with the student provided the opportunity to present information and the dean 

conducting “an additional investigation as he or she deems necessary” [not described further]); 

Level 2 (resolved by a direct supervisor of the person who wrote the recommendation in Level 1, 

with no indication that additional  investigation will occur); and Level 3 (resolved by President, 

or Board of Trustees if a complaint is submitted against the President).  Each step has designated 

timeframes.   

 

The third process is set out in the Seminary’s 2020-2021 student handbook, which also provides 

separate procedures under the heading “Non Discrimination Policy and Reporting Procedures.”  

The handbook states that discrimination on the bases of race, ethnicity, national origin, veteran's 

status, gender, disability, or age is prohibited. 

 

The policy says that, if one believes another’s words or actions constitute discrimination against 

oneself or another, there is an obligation to report this in writing to the dean (contact information 

provided).  The policy says the Seminary will investigate promptly and impartially and keep the 

complainants informed of the process and outcome. 

 

OCR’s interviews with current and former Seminary/University staff members indicated that 

staff did not provide consistent information regarding the Seminary’s Section 504 grievance 

procedures, including about what process would apply, who was the appropriate person to 

receive and handle complaints, and how a complaint is to be processed.   

 

• Legal Standard 

 

The Section 504 implementing regulation, at 34 C.F.R. § 104.7(b), states, in part, that a recipient 

that employs 15 or more persons shall adopt grievance procedures that incorporate appropriate 

due process standards that provide for the prompt and equitable resolution of complaints alleging 

any action prohibited by Section 504.  In evaluating whether a school’s Section 504 grievance 

procedures are prompt and equitable, OCR will examine, for example, the extent to which notice 

of the procedures has been provided to students and employees of the school; whether the 

procedures afford an opportunity for an adequate, reliable, and impartial investigation; whether 

reasonably prompt timeframes have been established for the various stages of the complaint 

process; whether notice of the outcomes of the complaint has been provided to the parties; and 

whether there is an assurance that any violations will be addressed, and steps will be taken to 

prevent a recurrence.  Parent and Educator Resource Guide to Section 504 in Public Elementary 

and Secondary Schools (OCR, 12/28/16) [OCR-000100]. 

 

Allegation #3 – Analysis and Insufficient Evidence Determination  

 

The Student alleged that [redacted] harassed her on the basis of her disability [redacted].  The 

evidence, however, does not support that [redacted] harassed her based on her disability.  OCR’s 

review of written communications between [redacted] and the Student did not reveal any 

statements which, from an objective standpoint, were negatively targeted to the Student because 

of her disability.  Furthermore, with respect to the in-person interactions between [redacted] and 

the Student, the witnesses OCR interviewed stated that they had not observed any harassing 
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conduct by [redacted].  OCR therefore finds that the evidence obtained during the investigation 

does not support that [redacted] conduct toward the Student was disability harassment in 

violation of the Section 504 regulation. 

 

The Complainant has a right to appeal OCR’s determination of Allegation #3 within 60 calendar 

days of the date indicated on this letter.  In the appeal, the Complainant must explain why the 

factual information in this letter was incomplete or incorrect, the legal analysis was incorrect or 

the appropriate legal standard was not applied, and how correction of any error(s) would change 

the outcome of the case; failure to do so may result in dismissal of the appeal. If the Complainant 

appeals OCR’s determination, OCR will forward a copy of the appeal form or written statement 

to the Seminary.  The Seminary has the option to submit to OCR a response to the appeal.  The 

Seminary must submit any response within 14 calendar days of the date that OCR forwarded a 

copy of the appeal to the Seminary. 

 

Allegations #1, #2, and #4 – Voluntary Resolution 

 

As explained above, prior to OCR’s completion of its investigation of Allegations #1, #2, and #4, 

the Seminary expressed an interest in resolving the allegations.  Under Section 302 of OCR’s 

Case Processing Manual, allegations under investigation may be resolved at any time when, prior 

to the issuance of a final investigative determination, the recipient expresses an interest in 

resolving the allegations and OCR determines that it is appropriate to resolve them because 

OCR’s investigation has identified concerns that can be addressed through a resolution 

agreement.   

 

OCR determined that it is appropriate to resolve these allegations under Section 302 of the Case 

Processing Manual because the investigation conducted to date has identified compliance 

concerns. 

 

Regarding allegation #1, the Student alleged that the Seminary did not provide her with 

appropriate academic adjustments regarding her courses.  The evidence supports that the Student 

notified the Seminary of her disabilities and her need for academic adjustments.  She registered 

with SAC at the University and provided documentation completed by her doctor, and SAC 

issued an accommodation eligibility letter setting forth the approved services for the Student.  

While [redacted] was not specifically set forth in the Student’s accommodation eligibility letter 

issued by SAC, the Student alleged that this was agreed to by the [redacted].  There is no 

evidence that the Seminary followed its academic adjustment process to consider this 

accommodation.  Evidence also supports that a student could make an accommodation request to 

someone other than a SAC staff member, and the Student made her need for this modification 

known to [redacted] and tied it to her disability; however, [redacted] did not appear to identify 

this as a disability-related request, and he did not refer her to SAC.  The Student communicated 

multiple times with the Seminary during the [redacted] semester about her need to [redacted].  

The lack of consideration of the Student [redacted], and whether this could be an appropriate 

disability-related service, raises cause for concern. 

 

Although the evidence OCR obtained in the investigation to date indicates the Student was 

offered the opportunity to take the Detroit course remotely and that in fact the course became 

virtual mid-semester due to the pandemic for all students, the evidence also raises cause for 
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concern regarding the Seminary’s process for making decisions about disability-related services.  

The Student asked the Seminary at one point to allow her to take a course via [redacted].  

[redacted] told OCR that students may not take core courses via [redacted].  The Seminary did 

not, however, provide information to support that this decision was made through an appropriate, 

deliberative process.   

 

Regarding allegation #2, the Student alleged that the Seminary retaliated against her by 

[redacted] because she filed this complaint with OCR and [redacted].   

 

The Student engaged in an activity protected by Section 504 when she filed this OCR complaint 

against the Seminary alleging disability discrimination and [redacted].  Furthermore, the 

Seminary took an adverse action against the Student by [redacted].  Finally, the Seminary’s 

[redacted] occurred shortly after or at the same time as the protected activity, which raises an 

inference of causation.  Therefore, a prima facie case of retaliation has been met. 

 

However, the Seminary articulated what could constitute a legitimate, nonretaliatory rationale for 

taking that action.  The Seminary argued that [redacted] is for students and employees, that the 

Student had filed for graduation in [redacted] and would no longer have been eligible for 

[redacted], and then, while she continued as a student after that date, it extended [redacted] until 

she was no longer a student.   

 

Having received an articulated legitimate nonretaliatory reason for the Seminary’s adverse 

action, OCR examined the information presented to determine whether the Seminary’s rationale 

was a pretext for retaliatory action.  According to the Seminary, the reason that the Student was 

[redacted] was because the Seminary had a policy which [redacted] to its students and 

employees.  However, the investigation revealed that at least one other [redacted] had been 

allowed to [redacted] for a significant period of time after no longer meeting that requirement.  

The Seminary stated that that [redacted] for extraordinary reasons, but without further 

investigation, OCR cannot—at this point—rule out the possibility of pretext.  

 

The evidence obtained to date also indicates that the Student’s status for her [redacted] course 

remained [redacted] implying that the Student never stopped being a Seminary student, but the 

Student was not [redacted].  The evidence also suggests that the Student might have been treated 

differently from the person who was allowed to [redacted] during the same time period.  As 

discussed above, OCR also found several compliance concerns regarding allegation #1, which 

could have affected the Student’s eligibility to [redacted].   

 

Regarding allegation #4, the Student alleged that the Seminary did not provide information that 

she could file a grievance when her requests for services/accommodations were denied 

concerning the [redacted] academic year.  The evidence obtained to date raises cause for concern 

that the Seminary’s processes would not provide for prompt and equitable resolution of disability 

discrimination complaints.  The evidence suggests that the Seminary adopted the University’s 

SAC grievance procedure as its Section 504 grievance procedure.  However, there are several 

other grievance procedures on the Seminary’s and University’s websites, and witnesses do not 

appear to have clear or consistent understanding of the process to be used for Section 504 

complaints. 
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OCR therefore determined that it is appropriate to resolve this allegation under Section 302 of its 

Case Processing Manual.  On October 19, 2021, the Seminary signed the enclosed Resolution 

Agreement, which, when fully implemented, will address all of the allegations in the complaint.  

OCR will monitor the implementation of the Resolution Agreement. 

 

Conclusion 

 

This concludes OCR’s investigation of the complaint and should not be interpreted to address the 

Seminary’s compliance with any other regulatory provision or to address any issues other than 

those addressed in this letter.  This letter sets forth OCR’s determination in an individual OCR 

case.  This letter is not a formal statement of OCR policy and should not be relied upon, cited, or 

construed as such.  OCR’s formal policy statements are approved by a duly authorized OCR 

official and made available to the public. 

 

Please be advised that the Seminary may not harass, coerce, intimidate, or discriminate against 

any individual because he or she has filed a complaint or participated in the complaint resolution 

process.  If this happens, the individual may file another complaint alleging such treatment.   

 

Under the Freedom of Information Act, it may be necessary to release this document and related 

correspondence and records upon request.  In the event that OCR receives such a request, OCR 

will seek to protect, to the extent provided by law, personally identifiable information, which, if 

released, could reasonably be expected to constitute an unwarranted invasion of personal 

privacy. 

 

The Complainant may file a private suit in federal court, whether or not OCR finds a violation. 

 

OCR looks forward to receiving the Seminary’s first monitoring report by November 30, 2021.  

For questions about implementation of the Agreement, please contact Karla Ussery.  Ms. Ussery 

will be overseeing the monitoring and can be reached by telephone at (216) 522-2683 or by e-

mail at Karla.Ussery@ed.gov.  If you have questions about this letter, please contact me by 

telephone at (216) 522-4978, or by e-mail at Erin.Barker-Brown@ed.gov.  

 

Sincerely, 

 

/s/ 

 

Erin Barker-Brown 

Acting Team Leader  

 

Enclosure 




